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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION 

Joshua Reed, appellant below, asks this Court to grant 

review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in State v. 

Reed, No. 84945-0-I (May 27, 2025) (Appendix). 

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Is review appropriate under RAP 13 .4(b )(1 )-(3) to 

determine whether sufficient evidence establishes the corpus 

delicti of first degree child molestation and to resolve whether 

an accused's trial testimony can support the corpus delicti of 

the crime? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Charges and trial testimony. 

5-year-old P.T. lived with her caretaker, Angela 

Fitzgerald, at 2551 Woodbine Place in 2016. 4RP 1 43-44. 

Responding to P.T.'s rough behavior toward another child, 

Fitzgerald admonished P.T. "no means no". 4RP 44-45, 48. 

1 The index to the record citation is in the Brief of Appellant 
(BOA) at 6, n.2. 

-1-



P.T. "spouted out" she had been molested by her mother's 

boyfriend. 4RP 44-45, 48, 52-53, 58. 

Fitzgerald did not ask many clarifying questions, but her 

impression was the alleged incident had involved penetrative 

sexual intercourse. 4RP 45, 49-50, 55-58. Fitzgerald could not 

recall whether P.T. mentioned her clothes being on or off, when 

or where the alleged incident occurred, or what specific words 

she used. 4RP 49-52, 63, 55-57, 59. P.T. claimed she had been 

warned not to tell anyone about the incident under fear of 

physical harm. 4RP 45-46, 50, 54, 58-59, 63. P.T. did not 

disclose to Fitzgerald that anyone had ever exposed themselves 

to her on a different occasion or locked her inside a bathroom. 

4RP 62. P.T. and Fitzgerald's entire conversation lasted about 

five minutes. 4RP 55. 

Fitzgerald reported P. T.' s disclosure to other family 

members and the child advocacy center, who in turn contacted 

child protective services (CPS). 4RP 46-47, 62, 183-84. The 

subsequent investigation revealed P. T. had also previously 
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made disclosures to her mother, Lola Higby, and grandmother, 

Dorothy Higby, but neither had acted in response. 4RP 67-69, 

104, 107, 162-63. 

Sometime between January and July 2014, P.T. disclosed 

to Lola that Reed, her ex-boyfriend, had "raped" her. 4RP 64-

65, 69-71, 74-75, 78, 90, 101-06. P.T. made another similar 

disclosure in November 2014. 4RP 70-71, 77-78. P.T. provided 

no details to Lola and failed to elaborate on where the alleged 

incident happened or what she meant by "rape." 4RP 72, 75-76, 

78, 84. 

Lola would subsequently tell police, however, that Reed 

and P.T. had once been alone together at Reed's aunt, Teresa 

Carlisle's house, while she attended a job interview. 4RP 69, 

72-73, 79-81, 86-88, 95-100. Lola observed nothing unusual 

upon her return, and P.T. said nothing. 4RP 74, 81-83. P.T. 

never mentioned anything to Lola about a locked bathroom. 

4RP 86. Lola explained it was possible P.T. had come into 

Reed and Lola's bedroom while both were in various stages of 
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undress. 4RP 85. She denied P.T. had mentioned any specific 

incidents related to their bedroom. 4RP 84-85. 

During the summer of 2015, P.T. also disclosed to 

Dorothy that she had been "raped" by her mother's boyfriend. 

4RP 103-07, 109, 1 1 1. The following day P.T. again told 

Dorothy she was raped, that her "yoo-hoo" hurt, and that she 

wanted to take a bath. 4RP 103-04, 106-07, 109. P.T. told 

Dorothy she had been in the bathtub at Fitzgerald's house when 

her mother's boyfriend walked in and "did whatever he did to 

her. You know, I didn't get the full disclosure on what he did." 

4RP 108-10. P.T. did not identify the person allegedly 

responsible by name or when the incident allegedly occurred, 

and Dorothy did not question P.T. 4RP 103-06, 107-08, 1 10-11. 

A medical examination of P.T. revealed no abnormal 

findings. 4RP 173-74; CP 19-24. P.T. was also interviewed by 

CPS investigator, Brandy Johannesson, in April 2016. 4RP 165-

66, 169, 184-85. The only alleged sexual act disclosed by P.T. 

during the interview was vaginal penetration that occurred at 
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Reed's aunt's house. 4RP 173, 177-80, 184-85. P.T. did not 

indicate when the incident allegedly occurred. 4RP 177-78. P.T. 

told Johannesson both her and Reed's underwear were pulled 

down, no one else was present, and a bird was at the house. 

4RP 173, 179-82. P.T. disclosed no incidents that occurred at 

Fitzgerald's house, no incidents involving being touched in a 

bathtub, and no incidents involving Reed being naked in bed. 

4RP 176-77. P.T. did tell Johannesson she was once locked in a 

bathroom with Reed but did not allege it involved any touching. 

4RP 174-76. 

P.T. also told her mental health therapist, Sherry Haynes, 

she had been "raped." 4RP 154-56, 159-60, 162. Haynes did 

not inquire how P. T. was familiar with the word but considered 

it unusual. 4RP 162, 164. P.T. described one incident to 

Haynes, wherein Reed inserted his "wee-wee between my legs 

and rubbed back and forth." 4RP 158, 161, 163. P.T. did not 

indicate whether she was clothed during the alleged incident, 

but described the noise made as a "fart putty." 4RP 159-61. P.T. 
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also stated she was locked in a bathroom after the incident but 

provided no additional detail. 4RP 162. 

Whatcom County sheriff detective, Ken Gates, confirmed 

Reed occasionally lived at his aunt Carlisle's house, including 

for a time with his ex-girlfriend, Georgina Winters. 4RP 114, 

117, 137-39, 147-49, 152, 186-88, 200-02. Reed would 

occasionally house sit for Carlisle and her pets, including a 

parrot, when she went out of town. 4RP 142-45, 150-51, 188, 

218. 

Gates also spoke with Winters, who stated Reed had 

disclosed to her an incident where P.T. came into his bedroom, 

jumped under the bed sheets while he was naked, and grabbed 

his penis. 4RP 193-94, 204. Winters also reported to Gates that 

Reed had asked her to state she was with him when the alleged 

incident occurred. 4 RP 194. 

-6-



Reed also spoke with Gates.2 4RP 190-92. Reed denied 

any incident had occurred at Carlisle's house. 4RP 199-201. 

Reed disclosed an incident where P.T. came into the bedroom 

he and Lola shared, dove under the bed covers, and grabbed 

Reed's penis. 4RP 196-98, 206, 288-89, 292. Reed also 

discussed an incident where P.T. called him into the bathroom 

while she was bathing and held her genitals in a manner which 

Reed believed was an attempt to entice him. 4RP 198-99, 203, 

206, 288-89, 292. No touching was alleged to have happened. 

4RP 207. 

Gates acknowledged "the only information" he had 

regarding those incidents was what Reed told him. 4RP 203. 

Gates did not investigate the incident disclosed by Dorothy 

wherein P.T. alleged to have been raped in a bathroom at 

Fitzgerald's house. 4RP 202. 

2 Reed's statements to Gates were admitted after a pretrial CrR 
3.5 fact-finding hearing. CP 78-80. 
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Based on this evidence the Whatcom County prosecutor 

charged Reed by amended information with first degree rape of 

a child and first degree child molestation for the incidents 

alleged to have happened between January 1, 2014 and May 3, 

2015. CP 16-18. The prosecutor also charged Reed with 

tampering with a witness for the incident alleged to have 

occurred between April 26 and September 15, 2016 involving 

Winters. CP 16-18. Reed waived his right to a jury trial and the 

case was tried to the court. CP 14-15; 3RP 103-06. 

At trial, P.T. testified that while at Carlisle's house, Reed 

put his private part between her legs while she was partially 

naked. 4RP 16-17, 20-21, 24, 35. P.T. was lying on the couch 

on her back and Reed was on top of her. 4RP 29-31, 35. P.T. 

heard a farting sound. 4RP 30-31. Only Reed and P.T. were 

present at the time, and it made her uncomfortable. 4RP 21, 34, 

36-37. P.T. described being locked in a bathroom with Reed on 

the same day. 4RP 22-23, 32-33. Reed used the bathroom but 

showed P.T. nothing and said nothing to her. 4RP 22-23. 
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P.T. was uncertain when the incident occurred but knew 

it ended when her mother returned to the house. 4RP 21-22, 25, 

34, 36. P.T. explained she told her mother about what had 

happened right away. 4RP 23, 27, 41. She later told 

J ohannesson and Haynes about things that made her feel 

uncomfortable but could not specifically recall what she told 

them. 4RP 24, 27-28. 

P.T. denied anything else happened between her and 

Reed that made her feel uncomfortable. 4RP 22. P.T. denied 

seeing Reed's penis on any other occasion and could not 

describe its appearance. 4RP 22, 25. 

Reed denied any sexual contact with P.T. 4RP 236, 244, 

271-73. Reed also explained his statements to Gates. Reed 

explained on one occasion P.T. had come into his and Lola's 

bedroom intending to snuggle and accidentally touched his 

penis while climbing into bed. 4RP 236-39, 258, 272, 292-97, 

308, 321-22, 324. Reed did not believe P.T. would have seen 

him nude because he was covered by blankets, but accidentally 
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grabbed his penis, and exclaimed "wow" when she realized 

what happened. 4RP 258, 294, 299-300, 304, 308, 323-24. 

Reed told Gates this was an example of being in the wrong 

place at the wrong time. 4RP 297, 322. Reed had no sexual 

arousal. 4RP 324. 

Reed told Gates there were instances where his hand 

accidentally touched P.T.'s genital area while they were both 

dressed, and thus he had explained to Gates that anything 

inappropriate happened at the Maplewood residence, where he 

lived with Lola. 4RP 309-10, 328. Reed would not have been 

home alone with P.T. at the time. 4RP 283, 320. 

Reed testified P.T. often enticed him into nonsexual 

behavior such as playing, wrestling, or preparing food. 4RP 

256, 328-29. Reed explained he always made sure to conduct 

himself in an appropriate manner around P.T. 4RP 305-06, 326. 

For example, when P.T. would run around the house naked, he 

asked Lola to put clothes on her. 4RP 296. 
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Reed denied ever locking P.T. in a bathroom. 4RP 270-

71. P.T. did once see Reed's penis when she burst into the 

bathroom while Reed was using it. P.T.'s mother came and 

removed her. 4RP 257-58, 307, 327. Reed denied any 

intercourse or sexual touching occurred while P.T. was in the 

bathtub. 4RP 242. Indeed, Reed had never even been to 

Fitzgerald's house. 4RP 240, 261. 

On one occasion, P.T. had called Reed into the bathroom 

and stood up in the bathtub with her hands on her hips. 4RP 

254-55, 299, 306-07, 3 10, 323, 327. Reed was uncertain what 

P.T. wanted, believing it was more toys or shampoo, and never 

entered the bathroom. 4RP 255-56, 327-28. He denied that P.T. 

was "enticing" him into sexual contact or that he told Gates that 

but acknowledged his statement to Gates said P.T. 's hands were 

between her legs. 4RP 256, 289-90, 306-07, 323, 328-29. 

Reed once watched P.T. at Carlisle's house when Lola 

went out for an interview. 4RP 262-72, 286-87, 3 17. Carlisle 

was present at the house but stayed in her bedroom because she 
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was not feeling well. 4RP 270. Otherwise, Reed was rarely 

alone with P.T., and he denied telling Gates otherwise. 4RP 

239-40, 281-83. Indeed, on the few other occasions Reed house 

sat for Carlisle, neither Lola nor P.T. visited the house. 4RP 

244-48, 273. 

Reed acknowledged his conversation with Winters but 

explained it involved custody of their son and he honestly 

believed the date in question was the one she was present for. 

4RP 227-29, 231, 233. As Reed explained, he thought he and 

Winters lived at Carlisle's house in April 2014 but later realized 

they did so in October or November of 2015. 4RP 230. He 

denied threatening Winters or telling her what to do or say to 

the police. 4RP 233-35. 

2. Closing argument and sentencing. 

The prosecution argued the trial court could find the 

alleged rape and molestation incidents constituted the same 

criminal conduct. 4RP 342. However, the prosecution 
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encouraged the trial court to find they were separate incidents, 

explaining: 

However, we have heard some evidence during the 
course of this trial that indicates there were two 
separate incidents. Once, involving the defendant 
in the bathroom with [P.T.], and that's from 
Dorothy Higby, where she describes the defendant 
touching [P.T.] inappropriately in the bathtub. And 
then there's obviously the bed incident, which the 
defendant describes, where she touches his penis 
and fully admits that. That potentially could 
constitute separate criminal conduct. 

4RP 342. 

Defense counsel's request to dismiss both the rape and 

molestation charges for insufficient evidence was denied. 4RP 

330-31. 

The court found Reed guilty as charged. CP 71-75, 81-

98; 4RP 361-76. The court concluded the incidents giving rise 

to the rape and molestation charges "involve[ d] distinct 

criminal acts, occurring at distinct times and places." CP 73 

(finding 17); 4RP 369-70. Specifically, the trial court cited 

P.T.'s touching of Reed's penis in bed as "evidence of sexual 
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contact[.]" CP 73 (finding 11). The trial court also found "[ . . .  ] 

the Child Molestation, as charged in Count II, occurred in the 

Maple Wood Apartment between April 1 and May 3, 2015." CP 

73 (finding 15); 4RP 373-74. The court cited Reed's statements 

to police as evidence of his "guilty conscious" and "criminal 

intent." CP 73 (findings 10, 14); 4RP 370-71, 373. 

Reed was sentenced to concurrent indeterminate 

sentences of 96 months to life for the child molestation 

conviction and 1 71 months to life for the rape conviction. 

3. Appeal. 

Reed argued, inter alia, that under corpus delicti, his 

conviction for first degree child molestation must be reversed 

because there was no evidence independent of his incriminating 

statements that a specific and separate act occurred wherein 

P. T.' s sexual or other intimate parts were touched for purposes 

of sexual gratification. The Court of Appeals affirmed, 

reasonmg that P.T., Lola and Fitzgerald provided 

"corroborating evidence indicating that Reed had sexual contact 
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with P.T. distinct from the rape." App. 9. The Court of Appeals 

also relied on State v. Mathis, 73 Wn. App. 341, 869 P.2d 106 

(1994), to conclude it could rely on Reed's trial testimony as 

further evidence in considering whether the prosecution 

established the corpus delicti. App. 9-10. Reed now seeks 

review. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

Review is appropriate to determine whether sufficient 
evidence establishes the corpus delicti of first degree 
child molestation and to resolve whether an accused's 
trial testimony can support the corpus delicti of the 
crime. 

The corpus delicti doctrine is a rule that tests the 

sufficiency of evidence, other than a defendant's confession, to 

corroborate the confession. State v. Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d 

243, 263, 401 P.3d 19 (2017); State v. Dow, 168 Wn.2d 243, 

249, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010). There are two elements to corpus 

delicti: "(1) an injury or loss (2) caused by someone's criminal 

act." Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d at 263. "The corpus delicti 
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'must be proved by evidence sufficient to support the inference 

that' a crime took place, and the defendant's confession 'alone 

is not sufficient to establish that a crime took place."' Id. at 252 

(quoting State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 327-28, 150 P.3d 59 

(2006)). The State must therefore "present other independent 

evidence to corroborate a defendant's incriminating statement." 

Brockob, 159 Wn.2d at 328. "The purpose of the rule is to 

prevent a defendant from being unjustly convicted based on an 

uncorroborated confession." State v. Green, 182 Wn. App. 133, 

143, 328 P.3d 988, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1019, 337 P.3d 

325 (2014). 

Under Washington law, independent evidence 1s 

sufficient only if it ''prima facie establishes the corpus delicti." 

Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d at 258 (quoting State v. Meyer, 37 

Wn.2d 759, 763-64, 226 P.2d 204 (1951)). "Prima facie 

corroboration . . .  exists if the independent evidence supports a 

'logical and reasonable inference of the facts' the State seeks to 

prove." Id. ( quoting Brockob, 159 Wn.2d at 328). 
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Under federal law, a confession alone likewise cannot 

sustain a conviction; the independent evidence must corroborate 

the confession's description of the crime and establish other 

elements of the crime not described in the confession. Opper v. 

United States, 348 U.S. 84, 93, 75 S. Ct. 158, 99 L. Ed. 101 

(1954); see Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d at 259 (describing 

Opper in this manner). 

In addition to corroborating a defendant's incriminating 

statement, the independent evidence "'must be consistent with 

guilt and inconsistent with an hypothesis of innocence."' State v. 

Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 660, 927 P.2d 210 (1996) (quoting State 

v. Lung, 70 Wn.2d 365, 372, 423 P.2d 72 (1967)). In assessing 

whether there is insufficient evidence of the corpus delicti, this 

Court reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

State. Id. at 658. But when the independent evidence supports 

"reasonable and logical inferences of both criminal agency and 

noncriminal cause," it fails to corroborate a defendant's 

admission of guilt. Id. at 660. In short, the evidence must 
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preponderate in favor of the existence of a criminal act. State v. 

Angulo, 148 Wn. App. 642, 653, 200 P.3d 752 (2009) (citing 

Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 660). 

If the State fails to meet its burden to produce independent 

corroborating evidence, the defendant's statements cannot be 

used to establish the corpus delicti or to prove the defendant's 

guilt at trial. Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 656; State v. Pineda, 99 Wn. 

App. 65, 77, 992 P.2d 525 (2000). The independent evidence in 

this case fails to meet this test and the Court of Appeals decision 

to the contrary raises a significant question of constitutional law 

and conflicts with prior precedent. This Court should grant 

review. 

To convict a defendant of first degree child molestation, 

the State must prove the defendant had "sexual contact with 

another who is less than twelve years old and not married to the 

perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older 

than the victim." RCW 9A.44.083(1). "'Sexual contact' means 

any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person 
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done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party 

or a third party." RCW 9A.44.010(13). Thus, to establish the 

corpus delicti of first degree child molestation, the prosecution 

has to prove, independent of a defendant's confession, that (1) 

there was contact between the defendant and the victim, and (2) 

the contact was sexual in nature or purpose. State v. Ray, 130 

Wn.2d 673, 679, 926 P.2d 904 (1996). 

Here, the corpus delicti was not established because the 

prosecution presented no evidence outside of Reed's statements 

that indicates he had sexual contact with P.T. at a time and place 

separate from the facts giving rise to the first degree rape of a 

child. See CP 72-73 (findings 9-17). Relying on Division Two's 

opinion in Mathis, the Court of Appeals reasoned that Reed's trial 

testimony could be relied on in determining whether the 

prosecution established corpus delicti and that it further 

strengthens the child molestation conviction. App. 9 ( citing 

Mathis, 73 Wn. App. at 346-4 7). This reasoning faulters for at 

least three reasons. 
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First, Reed's  trial testimony explaining his pretrial 

incriminating statements to both Winters and Gates does not 

qualify as independent evidence supporting an inference that he 

committed child molestation on any occasion separate from the 

alleged rape incident. State v. Aten, 79 Wn. App. 79, 88, 900 

P.2d 579 (1995), aff d, 130 Wn.2d 640. In Aten, the Court of 

Appeals explained why the corpus delicti rule requires the State 

to corroborate a defendant's incriminating statements with 

independent evidence: 

The doctrine guards not only against coerced 
confessions, but against uncorroborated admissions 
springing from a false subjective sense of guilt. A 
defendant who falsely believes herself guilty may 
"admit" that guilt through any description of the 
events in question, whether that description is given 
to police or a close friend, whether inculpatory, 
exculpatory, or facially neutral. The purpose of the 
corpus delicti doctrine would be frustrated if the 
court allowed a false confession to be 
"corroborated" by a false admission, or even by 
seemingly innocent statements. The corpus delicti 
doctrine incorporates a policy that we will not find a 
defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt based 
solely on the defendant's  subjective belief; we 
require prima facie corroboration. 

79 Wn. App. at 88 ( emphasis added). 
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In affirming Division Two's reasomng, this Court 

concluded a defendant's "statements should not be considered 

independent proof of the corpus delicti in this case." Aten, 130 

Wn.2d at 658. See also, City of Bremerton v. Corbett, 106 

Wn.2d 569, 576-77, 723 P.2d 1135 (1986) (rejecting rule that 

would limit corpus delicti doctrine to police interrogations, and 

holding that all admissions by a criminal defendant "whether 

made in a Miranda [3l setting or not, require corroboration under 

the corpus delicti rule."). Reed's testimony cannot 

independently corroborate his pretrial statements given the goal 

of corpus delicti is to prevent convictions based solely on a 

defendant's subjective belief or incorrect memory of the facts. 

Aten, 79 Wn. App. at 88, aff'd, 130 Wn.2d at 658. 

Second, the Court of Appeals reliance on Mathis for the 

proposition that Reed's trial testimony could establish the 

corpus, is misplaced. There, Division Two merely concluded 

3 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 
2d 694 (1966). 
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Mathis' s testimony that he digitally penetrated the victim 

"when combined with the testimony of L.P. that Mathis kissed 

her, put his hands down her underpants, and allowed her to 

sleep overnight at his house . . .  was sufficient to establish the 

corpus delicti of the crime of child rape." Mathis, 73 Wn. App. 

at 346-47 (emphasis added). Here, however, P.T. testified only 

to a single alleged incident of vaginal penetration, which served 

as the basis for the rape conviction. 4RP 16-17, 20-21-22, 24-25, 

29-31, 34-37; CP 72 (finding 7). This was also the only alleged 

sexual act disclosed by P.T. 4RP 158, 161-63, 173, 176-80, 

184-85. 

Notwithstanding the fact that Mathis is factually 

distinguishable, Division Two's opinion also plainly conflicts 

with this Court's opinions in Aten and Corbett because it would 

allow a defendant's false or mistaken testimony to corroborate a 

false or mistaken pretrial statement. 

Third, even assuming Reed's trial testimony could 

independently corroborate his pretrial statements several 
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problems remain. His trial testimony denied any sexual contact 

with P.T. occurred. 4RP 236, 244, 271-73. His description of 

the bedroom incident wherein P.T. accidentally touched his 

penis while climbing into bed was also devoid of any evidence 

of sexual gratification. 4RP 236-39, 258, 272, 292-97, 308, 

321-22, 324. 

The trial court also explicitly found Reed's trial 

testimony "not credible." CP 71-73 (findings 1, 13). Indeed, the 

trial court repeatedly made clear it was relying on Reed's 

statements to Gates, not his trial testimony, to find Reed guilty 

of child molestation. CP 73 (finding 13) ("The court finds the 

Defendant's statements to Detective Gates to be more credible 

than his testimony in court, and the discrepancies in the 

Defendant's statements lends to finding the Defendant not 

credible."); See also, CP 72-73 ( findings 9-14 ). The Court of 

Appeals cannot substitute its credibility determination for those 

of the trial court because the appellate court is not a fact finding 

court. Portugal v. Franklin Cnty., 1 Wn.3d 629, 664, 530 P.3d 
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994 (2023); State v. Madarash, 116 Wn. App. 500, 509, 66 P.3d 

682 (2003). 

What remains then, is the trial court's reliance on Reed's 

statements to Winters and Gates to support its conclusion that 

the state proved child molestation beyond a reasonable doubt. 

The Court of Appeals nonetheless cites Lola and Fitzgerald's 

testimony as corroborating a "reasonable inference" that Reed 

had sexual contact with P.T. distinct from the rape. App. 9-11. 

But Lola and Fitzgerald's testimony is insufficient to 

preponderate in favor of separate sexual contact by Reed. 

Angulo, 148 Wn. App. at 653 (citing Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 660). 

Fitzgerald did not ask clarifying questions in response to 

P.T.'s disclosure, and she did not remember whether P.T. 

mentioned whether her clothes were on or off, when or where 

the alleged incident occurred, or what specific words she used. 

4RP 49-52, 63, 55-57, 59. Moreover, Fitzgerald's impression 

was the alleged incident had involved penetrative sexual 

intercourse. 4RP 45, 49-50, 55-58. Similarly, Lola denied that 
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P.T. had mentioned any specific incidents related to their 

bedroom. 4RP 84-85. P.T. 's  request that she not be left with 

Reed was also devoid of any evidence that she was 

"uncomfortable in [Reed's] care" because of sexual contact as 

opposed to some "noncriminal cause" such as discipline. Aten, 

130 Wn.2d at 660. 

P.T. testified only to a single alleged incident of vaginal 

penetration on a couch at Carlisle's house. 4RP 16- 17, 20-21, 24, 

29-31, 34-37. This testimony was the basis for Reed's 

conviction for first degree rape of a child. See CP 72 (finding 

7). P. T. testified as to no other incidents of sexual contact 

between her Reed. She denied seeing Reed's  penis on any other 

occasion or that anything else happened between her and Reed 

that made her feel uncomfortable. 4RP 22, 25. Similarly, the 

only alleged sexual act disclosed by P.T. to Johannesson and 

Haynes involved vaginal penetration. 4RP 158, 161-63, 173, 

176-80, 184-85. 
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In short, like the trial court, the Court of Appeals points to 

no evidence independent of Reed's statements to support its 

conclusion the prosecution proved a separate act of child 

molestation beyond a reasonable doubt. Such conjecture is 

inconsistent with the trial court's findings, the police 

investigation, and the prosecutor's own acknowledgements at 

trial. CP 72 (findings 9- 14); 4RP 202-03, 342, 359-74. To be 

sure, the trial court's findings are silent as to which of P.T.'s 

statements are allegedly corroborative of additional sexual 

contact. 

But even assuming P.T. ' s  statements are corroborative of 

the penis touching incident, it is clear the trial court inferred the 

sexual contact was done for the necessary purposes of gratifying 

sexual desire precisely because of Reed's statements. As the 

court found, "[t]he Defendant described his contact in sexual 

terms" and " [t]he Defendant stated that P.T. had her hands 

between her legs and presented herself to him, and also stated 
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that P.T. grabbed his penis in bed and stated 'wow'". CP 73 

(findings 11, 13). 

The only evidence that indicates sexual touching occurred, 

separate from the facts giving rise to the rape conviction, was 

Reed's statements. The prosecution's independent evidence was 

insufficient to make a prima facie showing of separate sexual 

contact for purposes of child molestation. Therefore, the 

prosecution failed to adequately establish the corpus delicti of 

first degree child molestation. "[A]n appellate court must reverse 

and dismiss a conviction that rests solely on an uncorroborated 

confession, even if the confession would be sufficient to 

establish all the elements of the crime." Cardenas-Flores, 189 

Wn.2d at 260. 

E. CONCLUSION 

Reed respectfully asks this Court to grant review and 

reverse his child molestation conviction. 

I certify that this document contains 4,402 words, 
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 
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DATED this 26th day of June, 2025. 

Respectfully submitted, 
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 

JARED B. STEED, 
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D IVIS ION ONE 

U NPU BLISHED OP IN ION 

SMITH , J .  - I n  201 6 ,  five-year-old P .T. told her careg iver that her mother's 

ex-boyfriend, Josh ua Reed , had touched her inappropriately. P .T. reiterated her 

statement when interviewed by CPS.  Reed den ied ever inappropriately touch ing 

P .T. The State charged Reed with first degree rape of a chi ld ,  first degree 

molestation ,  and witness tampering . Reed waived h is right to a jury trial and the 

court found Reed gu i lty on a l l  cou nts . 

Reed appeals, asserting that insufficient evidence exists u nder the corpus 

del icti ru le , that h is commun ity custody conditions must be stricken ,  and that the 

no-contact order exceeds the statutory maximum and violates h is fundamental 

right to parent. 

We affirm the conviction for chi ld molestation  in the first degree but 

remand for the court to mod ify community custody cond itions ,  no-contact order, 

and fees. 
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FACTS 

Background 

I n  April 20 1 6, then five-year-old P .T. l ived with her caretaker, Angela 

Fitzgerald . Fo llowing P .T. 's rough behavior with another chi ld , F itzgerald sat her 

down for a conversation about "no" meaning "no . "  When Fitzgerald stated that 

th is appl ied to adu lts as wel l  as chi ldren ,  P .T. d isclosed that her mother's 

boyfriend,  Joshua Reed , had touched her inappropriately. Using her arm as an 

example of a body, with her shoulder representing the head and her hand 

representing the feet, F itzgerald asked P.T.  to show her where Reed had 

touched her .  P .T. pointed to Fitzgerald's e lbow, wh ich Fitzgerald u nderstood to 

mean P .T. 's gen itals .  Although F itzgerald did not ask many questions, she was 

left with the impression that the i ncident involved penetration .  P .T. a lso told 

F itzgerald , unprompted , that Reed threatened her and instructed her not to te l l  

anyone .  F itzgerald reported P .T. 's statements to other family members and a 

chi ld advocacy center, who then contacted Ch i ld Protective Services (CPS) . 

CPS I nvestigation and Interviews 

CPS began its i nvestigation in April 201 6. Brandy Johannesson , a CPS 

investigator, interviewed P.T. , her  mother, Lola H igby ,  Fitzgerald ,  and Reed . The 

investigation revealed that P.T. had previously informed her mother, and 

grandmother, Dorothy H igby, of the i nappropriate behavior but that neither had 

taken any action . 1 

1 We refer to Lola H igby and Dorothy H igby by fi rst name for the purpose 
of clarity. 
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Lola stated P.T. told her Reed had raped her wh i le Reed , Lola , and P.T.  

l ived together .  She a lso noted that P .T. repeated the statement s ix months later. 

Lola and P .T. continued to l ive with Reed after the first d isclosu re .  Lola did not 

ask P .T. any q uestions about what specifical ly happened or report the behavior. 

Dorothy recou nted that, out of the b lue ,  P .T. had stated she had been 

raped . Dorothy d id not th ink much of it unt i l  P .T .  reiterated her statement the 

fol lowing day, noting that she was hurt ing and asking to take a bath . Whi le P .T.'s 

description of being raped in a bathtub caused Dorothy concern , she did not ask 

any questions and contin ued on to work. She did not report P .T. 's statements or 

take any other action .  

During her interview, P .T .  was in itia l ly hesitant to d iscuss Reed.  But as 

P .T. became more comfortab le ,  she again stated that Reed had raped her. 

When asked whether she cou ld say a l ittle more about that, P .T. described being 

dropped off with Reed , despite asking her mother not to do so. She recounted 

being on the couch when Reed removed h is pants ,  pu l led down her pants and 

u nderwear, and inserted h is pen is i nto her vag ina .  She slammed her crayon on 

the counter to explain how it fe lt. 

Reed deta i led two incidents in h is interview with CPS but den ied any 

i nappropriate contact. He described both i ncidents as "being the one that is 

there at the wrong place at the wrong time . "  The first involved he lping P .T. 

prepare for a bath .  Reed stated that after cal l ing to get h is attention , P .T.  

presented herself to h im naked . She was three years old at the time . 
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Reed a lso described a time that P .T. ran into the bed room he shared with 

her mother, cl imbed under the b lankets , and grabbed h is penis .  He stated that 

she said "wow," before he eventual ly shooed her out of the room. He den ied 

ever raping P.T. and d id not address P .T. 's description of the incident on the 

couch . 

Law Enforcement Investigation and I nterviews 

Law enforcement also u ndertook an investigation in Apri l 201 6 ,  fo l lowing a 

CPS referral .  Detective Ken Gates interviewed Reed the same day he spoke 

with CPS.  Both the audio record ing and the transcript of the record ing were 

admitted i nto evidence. 

Reed again d iscussed two incidents wh i le speaking with Detective Gates : 

the bathroom incident and the bed room incident. He described , in greater deta i l ,  

a time that he helped make sure P .T. got  in the bath . He deta i led how she cal led 

h im into the bath room several t imes and then stood up so as to "entice" h im .  He 

suggested that she was "presenting herself," essentia l ly saying "you shou ld come 

in here . '' Reed described saying "no thank you ," before leaving the bathroom. 

He again acknowledged that P.T.  was on ly th ree years old . 

Reed also described the bed room incident, stating that P .T. often entered 

the bedroom that he and Lola shared wh ile they were sti l l  in bed . He deta iled the 

particular circumstance where P.T. waited unti l  Lola left the bedroom before 

run n ing into the room, d iving u nder the covers , and "[trying] to help herself. " He 

clarified that "help[ ing] herself' meant that she grabbed h is pen is.  He reiterated 

that she said both "wow," and "I wanna do what my mom wants to do ,  you know 
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what my mom does . "  He further provided that, at three years old , she was "old 

enough to know what it is, and what she should be using it for, or have a good 

idea." 

When Detective Gates informed Reed that P .T. stated he had touched her 

inappropriately, Reed asserted he had never gone out of h is way to 

inappropriately conduct h imself around P.T. , emphasized that the two incidents 

he d iscussed involved P .T. as the actor, and denied the rape claim. 

Detective Gates a lso spoke with Georg ina Winters , Reed 's ex-partner and 

the mother of h is chi ldren .  Winters stated that Reed had previously d isclosed the 

bedroom incident to her. Winters a lso informed Detective Gates that Reed asked 

her to say she was with h im when the al leged crime occurred .  

Tria l  

The State charged Reed with one count of rape of a chi ld in  the first 

degree in May 201 6 . The State amended the information to add one count of 

witness tampering as to Winters . The State then again amended the information, 

adding one count of chi ld molestation in the first degree. Reed waived h is right 

to a jury and proceeded to a bench tria l  in  Ju ly 201 7 . 

I n  l ieu of presenting certain  ora l  testimony, the parties stipu lated to the 

admission of the med ical report resu lting from P .T.'s physical examination ,  the 

record ings of her ch ild forensic interview, and Reed's law enforcement interview. 

Reed sti l l testified as part of the defense case, specifical ly addressing the sexual 

abuse a l legations. 

5 
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When asked whether he recal led any inappropriate contact d u ring the 

bed room incident,  Reed repl ied yes , but denied any sexua l  contact with P .T.  He 

explained he bel ieved P .T. might have accidentally touched h is gen ita ls ,  but 

stated she d id not purposely try to touch h im for sexual purposes . Although he 

d id not chal lenge h is statements to law enfo rcement, Reed d id d ispute the 

meaning behind h is statements . H e  attempted to explain away h is language 

referencing P .T. 's "enticement" and otherwise a l legedly intentiona l  act ions. But 

he nonetheless acknowledged that h is testimony at trial was fu ndamenta l ly the 

same as his in itial statements to law enforcement. 

The trial cou rt den ied defense counsel 's request to d ismiss the rape and 

molestation charges for insufficient evidence and found Reed gu i lty on all th ree 

counts.  The court concluded that the incidents g iving rise to the rape and 

molestation charges " invo lve[d] d isti nct criminal  acts , "  that Reed and P .T. 's 

a l ign ing testimony constituted evidence of sexual contact, and that the 

d iscrepancies in Reed's testimony affected h is cred ib i l ity. 

The cou rt sentenced Reed to an indeterminate sentence of 96 months to 

l ife on the ch i ld molestation charge,  1 7 1 months to l ife on the rape of a ch i ld 

charge ,  and 1 2  months for witness tampering .  The court also imposed 

commun ity custody cond itions requ iring that Reed engage in chemica l 

dependency evaluations ,  polyg raph examinations ,  and home vis its , as wel l  as 

l imiting h is contact with minors .  Fol lowing a motion from the State , the cou rt 

extended the proh ib ition on any contact with P.T. , as well as the proh ib it ion on 
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contact with minors including Reed's biolog ica l  son ,  from 36 months to l ife .  Reed 

appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

Sufficient Evidence u nder Corpus Del icti 

Reed asserts that, u nder the corpus del icti ru le ,  the State fai led to present 

sufficient evidence to corroborate the ch ild molestation charge, independent of 

Reed 's own incriminating statements .  Accord ing ly, he  claims h is statements 

shou ld not have been admitted and considered in determining gu i lt. The State 

d isagrees , mainta in ing that the State's evidence and Reed's testimony in court 

were sufficient to corroborate that ch i ld molestation occurred in an act separate 

and d istinct from the ch i ld rape . Because a prima facie case is a low evidentiary 

standard and the court re lied on sufficient evidence to establ ish the molestation 

charge ,  we agree with the State . 

"A criminal defendant may raise corpus del icti for the first time on appeal 

as a sufficiency of the evidence chal lenge . "  State v. Cardenas-Flores, 1 89 

Wn.2d 243, 247 , 401  P .3d 1 9  (20 1 7) .  We review such chal lenges de novo . 

State v. Green , 1 82 Wn . App. 1 33 ,  1 43 ,  328 P .3d 988 (20 1 4) .  I n  evaluating the 

sufficiency of the evidence , the reviewing court accepts the truth of the State's 

evidence and d raws a l l  reasonable inferences therefrom in the l ight most 

favorab le to the State . Cardenas-Flores, 1 89 Wn .2d at 264 . 

Corpus del icti , meaning "the 'body of the crime , ' " serves to prevent 

convictions based solely on  confessions. State v. Troutman, 30 Wn. App. 2d 

592 , 601 , 546 P .3d 458 , review denied, 3 Wn.3d 1 0 1 6  (2024) (quoting State v. 
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Brockob, 1 59 Wn .2d 3 1 1 ,  327, 1 50 P .3d 59 (2006)) .  Corpus del icti includes two 

elements: ( 1 ) an injury or  loss (2) caused by another's criminal  act. Cardenas­

Flores, 1 89 Wn.2d at 264 . Both " 'must be proved by evidence sufficient to 

support the i nference that' a crime took p lace ." Cardenas-Flores, 1 89 Wn.2d at 

252 (quoting Brockob, 1 59 Wn.2d at 327-28) .  " [A] defendant's confession 'alone 

is not sufficient to establ ish that a crime took place . '  " Cardenas-Flores, 1 89 

Wn .2d at 252 (quoting Brockob , 1 59 Wn .2d at 327-28). Rather, independent 

evidence must corroborate or confirm a defendant's confession . Troutman , 30 

Wn . App. 2d at 601 . 

That said , " 'the independent evidence need not be of such a character as 

wou ld establ ish the corpus del icti beyond a reasonable doubt, or even by a 

preponderance of the proof. It is sufficient if it prima facie establ ishes the corpus 

del icti . ' " Cardenas-Flores, 1 89 Wn .2d at 258 (emphasis omitted) (quoting State 

v. Meyer, 37 Wn . 2d 759, 763-64 , 226 P .2d 204 ( 1 951 ) ) .  " 'Prima facie 

corroboration . . .  exists if the i ndependent evidence supports a logical and 

reasonable inference of the facts the State seeks to prove . '  " Cardenas-Flores, 

1 89 Wn.2d at 258 (a lteration in orig inal) ( internal quotation marks omitted) 

(quoting Brockob, 1 59 Wn .2d at 328) .  

To convict a defendant of ch ild molestation in the first degree, the State 

must prove the defendant had sexual contact with someone under the age of 1 2 , 

that they were not married , and that the defendant is at least 36 months older 

than the victim . RCW 9A.44 .083( 1 ) .  "Sexual contact" includes "any touch ing of 

the sexual or other int imate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying 
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sexua l  desire of either party or  a third party." RCW 9A.44 .0 1 0( 1 3) .  The 

defendant need not have caused the contact to establ ish sexual contact. State v. 

Gary J. E. , 99 Wn . App.  258, 265 , 991  P .2d 1 220 (2000) . 

Therefore ,  to establ ish the corpus del icti of ch ild molestation in  the first 

degree, the State must present evidence of sexual contact between the 

defendant and the victim beyond the defendant's confession . State v. Ray, 1 30 

Wn .2d 673, 679, 926 P .2d 904 ( 1 996) . 

Reed claims that the State fa iled to do so because it presented no 

evidence ,  outside of Reed's own statements ,  to indicate he had sexua l  contact 

with P .T.  at a time and place separate from the facts giving rise to the charge of 

rape of a ch ild in  the first degree. We d isagree . 

P .T . ,  Lola ,  and Fitzgerald a l l  provided corroborating evidence indicating 

that Reed had sexua l  contact with P .T. d istinct from the rape . This alone is 

enough to establ ish the charge of ch ild molestation .  

Add itional ly ,  State v. Mathis, 73  Wn . App .  341 , 869 P .2d 1 06 ( 1 994) , 

provides that this cou rt may rely on Reed's substantive testimony at trial in  

considering whether the State establ ished the corpus del icti .  Reed's testimony 

then further strengthens the ch i ld molestation conviction .  

In  Mathis, the court re lied in  part on the defendant's testimony du ring the 

defense case because he did not cha l lenge the corpus delicti unti l after he 

testified . 73 Wn. App. at 346-47. Whi le ord inari ly, a court wou ld not have any 

defendant testimony when determin ing whether the State has establ ished the 
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corpus del icti of the crime, i n  such a circumstance ,  it is "appropriate" for the cou rt 

to consider a l l  of the evidence before it. Mathis, 73 Wn . App. at 347. 

Reed d id not ra ise a corpus del icti chal lenge unti l  appea l .  Accord ingly ,  

th is cou rt may consider h is testimony at tria l in determin ing whether the State 

establ ished the corpus del icti of chi ld molestation in the first degree. 

Reed's trial testimony,  Lola's tria l testimony, F itzgerald's trial testimony, 

and P .T. 's C PS interview establ ish prima facie ch i ld molestation i n  the first 

degree . 

Reed's "confession , "  for the purposes of corpus del icti , deta i led how P .T. 

entered the bedroom Reed shared with her mother, "dove in  [under the covers] , 

and tried to help herself." Reed clarified that P .T. touched h is penis.  

Lola, Fitzgerald ,  and P.T.  then a l l  corroborate Reed's testimony and 

"confession . "  Before the rape, P.T. asked her mother not to leave her with Reed , 

suggesting she was a lready uncomfortable i n  h is care .  The trial court expl icitly 

found P .T. 's statements and testimony to be credib le .  She also told her mother 

about an incident that happened in a bed . Lola testified that they continued to 

l ive with Reed after that first d isclosu re .  P.T. a lso informed Fitzgerald that Reed 

had molested her whi le Reed , Lola,  and P.T. were still living together. 

Th is testimony both establ ishes the molestation i ncident and d istingu ishes 

it from the rape. I n  describ ing the rape, P .T.  repeated ly stated that they were on  

a couch , not a bed . She  also emphatical ly stated that she had not seen Reed 

since the rape , whi le the mo lestation occurred whi le she sti l l  l ived with h im .  

1 0  
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Again , corpus del icti requ i res on ly prima facie corroboratio n ,  supporting a 

logica l  and reasonable i nference of the facts the State seeks to prove .  Taking 

the State's evidence as true and drawing all reasonable i nferences therefrom, 

P.T. ,  Lola, and F itzgerald's testimony documenting contact whi le Reed sti l l  l ived 

with Lola and P .T. support the reasonable inference that Reed molested P .T. As 

Lola emphasized that Reed d id not bathe P.T. , i nferring that any contact with 

sexual ly i ntimate body parts was done for the purpose of sexua l  desire is 

reasonable.  Together, P .T . ,  Lola,  and Fitzgerald 's testimonies are enough to 

establ ish prima facie corroboration as requ i red by corpus del icti .  

Considering Reed's testimony at  trial then adds to  P .T . ,  Lola,  and 

Fitzgerald's corroboration .  At trial ,  Reed testified about the same event,  

referencing P .T .  cl imbing u nder the bedsheet and making contact. In fact, Reed 

testified that h is i n itia l description of the event was fundamentally the same as 

what he testified to in cou rt . 

G iven the low evidentiary standard and the provided testimony, sufficient 

evidence estab l ishes the corpus del icti of ch ild molestation in the first degree. 

Commu n ity Custody Conditions 

Reed next argues that several of his commun ity custody conditions ,  

inc luding chemica l  dependency evaluations ,  home visits to monitor compl iance, 

the proh ib it ion on contact with minors ,  and polygraph requ i rements, must be 

stricken because they are not crime-related , are insufficiently narrowly ta i lored , or 

are unconstitutiona l .  The State contends that Reed invited any error in the 

imposit ion of the chal lenged commun ity custody conditions ,  except as to l imit ing 
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h is contact with chi ldren ,  by asking the court to adopt the cond itions .  As to the 

prohib ition on contact with minors ,  the State asserts that Reed fa i ls to 

demonstrate that review is appropriate because he d id not provide the trial cou rt 

with any information a l lowing it to make another decis ion.  

An appel lant may ra ise constitutional  chal lenges to commun ity custody 

cond itions for the first time on appea l .  State v. Reedy, 26 Wn . App .  2d 379,  395 , 

527 P .3d 1 56 ,  review denied, 1 Wn .3d 1 029 (2023) . We review commun ity 

custody cond itions for an abuse of d iscretion . State v. Wal/muller, 1 94 Wn .2d 

234 , 238, 449 P .3d 6 1 9  (20 1 9) .  Although , general ly , courts need not consider 

claims that were invited or waived , the invited error doctrine does not preclude 

review of an unauthorized sentence .  State v. Casimiro , 8 Wn. App .  2d 245 ,  249 , 

438 P .3d 1 37 (20 1 9) ;  State v. Mercado, 1 8 1 Wn. App. 624 , 631 , 326 P .3d 1 54 

(20 1 4) .  

The invited error doctrine " 'precludes a criminal defendant from seeking 

appellate review of an error [they] helped create , even when the a l leged error 

invo lves constitutiona l  rig hts . '  " State v. Bennett, 32 Wn . App. 2d 32 , 4 1 , 553 

P .3d 1 1 50 (2024) (a lteration in orig inal) ( internal  quotation marks omitted) 

(quoting State v. Tatum, 23 Wn . App. 2d 1 23 ,  1 28 ,  5 1 4  P .3d 1 85 (2022)) .  A 

petit ioner invites error if they affirmatively assented to, material ly contributed to , 

or benefitted from the error. Mercado, 1 8 1  Wn. App. at 630. "To be invited , the 

error must be the resu lt of an affirmative , knowing ,  and voluntary act . "  Mercado, 

1 8 1 Wn . App . at 630. Fai lure to object does not invite error. Tatum, 23 Wn.  App. 
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at 1 28 .  The State bears the burden of proving invited error. Mercado, 1 8 1 Wn. 

App. at 630. 

Sentencing courts may impose and enforce crime-related prohib itions and 

affirmative requ irements as a cond ition of commu nity custody. State v. Martinez 

Platero, 1 7  Wn. App. 2d 71 6 ,  725-26 , 487 P .3d 9 1 0  (202 1 ) . But there must be "a 

reasonable relationship between the condition and the defendant's behavior . "  

Martinez Platero,  1 7  Wn . App . 2d at 726 .  

The State asserts that Reed's chal lenges to  the chemical dependency 

evaluation ,  polygraph  examinations ,  and home vis its are not subject to review 

because Reed invited any error in requesting that the court adopt them. We 

d isagree. 

Defense counsel 's statement apparently referencing the commun ity 

custody cond itions does not expl icitly assent to the imposition of those 

cond it ions. And Reed 's fa i lure to object does not rise to the level of invited error. 

Casimiro is instructive as to defense counsel's language. 8 Wn . App. 2d 

at 248 . When asked specifical ly if Casimiro objected "to any cond itions fou nd in 

appendix F, "  cou nsel "review[ed] the append ix, ind icated he was famil iar with the 

cond itions ,  and advised the court that 'we are not objecting to these . '  " Casimiro, 

8 Wn. App. 2d at 248 .  Here ,  counsel's language is sign ificantly less clear. When 

requesting a sentence at the lower end of the sentencing scale, Reed stated "the 

addit ional requ i rements that are asked for would help with [keeping P .T.  safe] as 

wel l ,  and Mr .  Reed has no prob lem with any of those and the Court should adopt 

those." Not prompted by a d irect question from the cou rt , there is no such clear 
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reference to the commun ity custody cond itions proposed by the prosecution .  

Add itional ly, counsel had just requested that Reed be a l lowed contact with h is 

biological son .  To then immed iately agree to cond itions l imit ing that contact is 

contrad ictory and makes l ittle sense. Defense cou nsel's language here does not 

rise to the leve l of affi rmative assent as requ i red . 

Without inferring affirmative assent, a l l  that remains is Reed's fa i lu re to 

object to the commun ity custody condit ions. But that s imi larly does not rise to 

the level of invited error. As defense counsel 's statement that "Reed has no 

problem with any of those" is more akin to fai lu re to object to a potential error 

than affi rmative i nvitation of one,  Reed d id not invite error. 

Because we conclude that Reed d id not invite error, we now consider 

Reed's chal lenges to the community custody condit ions. 

1 .  Chemical Dependency Evaluation 

Reed contends that the commun ity custody cond it ion requ ir ing that he 

complete a chemical  dependency evaluation and comply with recommended 

treatment is improper because the cond ition is not sufficiently related to h is 

behavior. We agree. 

Under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1 98 1  (SRA) , chapter 9 .94A RCW, a 

trial cou rt may order an  offender to obta in a chemical  dependency eva luation and 

comply with recommended treatment on ly if it determines that the offender has a 

chemical dependency that contributed to their offense. RCW 9.94A.607( 1  ) .  

Here, the tria l  court d id not find that Reed had a chemica l dependency that 

contributed to h is offense. In fact, the record provides no evidence that drugs o r  
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a lcohol p layed any ro le in  Reed's convictions .  Without such a finding,  the trial 

court exceeded its statutory authority in  imposing the chemical dependency 

cond ition . We remand for the trial court to strike the cond ition .  

2 .  Polygraph Examination 

Reed next asserts that the cond ition requ iring he submit to polygraph 

examinations must be l imited to mon itoring compl iance with other community 

custody cond itions to be sufficiently narrowly ta i lored . We again agree. 

Polygraph testing may be used during commun ity custody to mon itor 

reasonable progress with treatment or other cond itions of commun ity 

supervis ion .  State v. Combs, 1 02 Wn . App. 949 , 952, 1 0  P .3d 1 1 0 1  (2000) . But 

such polyg raph testing may not be used "as a fish ing exped ition to d iscover 

evidence of other crimes , past or present." Combs, 1 02 Wn . App. at 953. I n  

Combs, the tria l  court ordered that Combs submit to un l imited polyg raph testing 

to mon itor h is compliance .  1 02 Wn. App .  at 952 . The appellate court upheld the 

cond ition , determin ing that the language of the j udgment and sentence as a 

whole impl iedly l imited the scope, but stated that Comb's judgment and sentence 

shou ld have "expl icitly contained" monitoring compliance language. Combs, 1 02 

Wn . App.  at 953 . 

Reed's judgment and sentence provide on ly that he  must "submit to 

polygraph examination as requ ired by the Department of Corrections [(DOC)]." 

I n  contrast to Combs, the judgment and sentence as a whole does not impl ied ly 

l imit the scope of the polygraph examinations. Rather, the language remains 

improperly broad . 
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We remand for the trial cou rt to l imit the polygraph  examinations 

specifical ly to compl iance with other commun ity custody cond it ions. 

3. Home Visits 

Reed also mainta ins that the cond it ion requ ir ing that he su bmit to home 

vis its to mon itor compl iance permits un lawfu l searches in vio lation of article I ,  

section 7 of the Washington Constitution . Beyond invited error, the State's on ly 

response is to argue the issue is not ripe for review. A pre-enforcement 

challenge to commun ity custody cond itions is ripe for review when " 'the issues 

ra ised are primari ly legal, do not requ ire fu rther factual development, and the 

chal lenged action is fi na l . ' " State v. Nelson, 4 Wn .3d 1 009 , 565 P .3d 906, 9 1 3  

(2025) ( internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Cates, 1 83 Wn .2d 

531 , 534, 354 P .3d 832 (20 1 5)) . "Further factua l  development is needed when 

the chal lenger's argument is based on the potential for ' [s]ome future 

misappl ication of the commun ity custody cond ition , '  wh ich necessarily depends 

'on the particular circumstances of the attempted enforcement . '  " Nelson , 565 

P .3d at 9 1 3 (a lteration i n  orig inal) ( internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting 

Cates, 1 83 Wn .2d at 534) . 

Occasional ly, the risk of hardship to a defendant may justify review of a 

chal lenge before it is factual ly developed . Nelson , 565 P .3d at 9 1 4 .  That risk is 

g reatest when the chal lenged cond itions " ' immed iately restrict[] the petitioners' 

conduct upon their re lease from prison . ' " Nelson , 565 P .3d at 9 1 4  (alteration in 

orig inal) (quoting State v. Sanchez Valencia , 1 69 Wn.2d 782, 239 P .3d 1 059 

(201 0)) .  A risk of hardship is insufficient to justify review, however, when 
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complying with chal lenged conditions does not requ i re the defendant to do,  or 

refra in from doing, anyth ing upon re lease u nless and unt i l  the State req uests it. 

Nelson , 565 P .3d at 9 1 4 .  

Here ,  Reed's home visit cond ition does not requ ire h im to d o ,  o r  refra in 

from doing ,  anyth ing upon h is re lease unless and u nti l  the DOC requests it. 

Therefore ,  Reed's chal lenge requ i res further factual  development to determine if 

the circumstances of enforcement of the home vis it cond ition are unreasonable. 

We conclude that the issue is not ripe. 

4 .  Fundamenta l R ight to Parent 

Lastly, Reed asserts that four  of the commun ity custody cond it ions, those 

proh ib it ing contact with minors ,  violate h is fundamenta l  right to parent. The State 

d isagrees, contend ing that Reed fa iled to present any i nformation about h is 

biological ch i ld ren  such that the court had any basis to make a d ifferent decision.  

Because the tria l cou rt d id not conduct an on-the-record analys is determin ing 

whether the cond itions were reasonably necessary to protect the State's 

compel l ing i nterest in preventing harm ,  we remand for the court to do so.  

Courts recogn ize that proh ib it ing an ind iv id ual 's contact with minors is 

logical when their offense invo lved a minor. State v. Riles, 1 35 Wn.2d 326, 350, 

957 P .3d 655 ( 1 998) ,  abrogated on other grounds by Valencia, 1 69 Wn .2d 782. 

That said , parents have a fundamenta l l iberty interest in the custody and care of 

their ch i ld ren .  In re Dependency of K.N.J. , 1 7 1 Wn.2d 568 , 574, 257 P .3d 522 

(20 1 1 ). Sentencing courts may restrict fundamental parenting rights by 

cond ition ing a criminal  sentence ,  but on ly if the cond ition is reasonably 
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necessary to fu rther the State's compel l i ng interest i n  preventing harm and 

protecting chi ldren .  State v. Corbett, 1 58 Wn. App. 576 , 598 , 242 P .3d 52 

(20 1 0) .  Subject to strict scrutiny, the condit ions must be narrowly drawn and 

"[t]here must be no reasonable a lternative way to achieve the State's i nterest . "  

State v. Warren, 1 65 Wn .2d 1 7 , 34 , 1 95 P .3d 940 (2008) .  The court must 

conduct th is inqu iry on the record . State v. DeLeon , 1 1  Wn . App. 2d 837,  84 1 -

42,  456 P .3d 405 (2020) ,  see also In re Pers. Restraint of Rainey, 1 68 Wn .2d .  

367,  382 , 229 P .3d 686 (20 1 0) .  

Each of the four  commu nity custody condit ions l imit h is contact with 

minors .  In imposing the cond itions ,  however, the trial cou rt did not address 

Reed's fundamental right to parent. Nor d id the court expla in ,  on the record , 

whether the no-contact cond itions were reasonably necessary to ach ieve the 

State's  compel l ing interest in preventing harm. Moreover, the court did not 

document any consideration as to whether less restrictive alternatives existed to 

ach ieve the State's interest. G iven this lack of documentation ,  we remand for the 

trial cou rt to conduct the requ i red analysis on the record . 

No-Contact Order 

1 .  Statutory Maximum 

Reed states that the no-contact order between Reed and Winters exceeds 

the statutory maximum for witness tampering and is therefore un lawfu l on its 

face. The State agrees. We remand for the tria l court to l imit the no-contact term 

to five years .  
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A tria l  court's authority to impose sentencing conditions is statutory. In re 

Postsentence Review of Leach , 1 61 Wn .2d 1 80 ,  1 84,  1 63 P .3d 782 (2007). 

Sentencing provis ions outside the authority of the tria l court are un lawfu l .  State 

v. Pringle, 83 Wn .2d 1 88 ,  1 90 ,  5 1 7  P .2d 1 92 ( 1 973). Erroneous or otherwise 

un lawfu l sentences may be chal lenged for the first time on appea l .  Bahl, 1 64 

Wn.2d at 744. 

U nder RCW 9.94A.505, a trial court may impose no-contact orders with 

victims as a crime-related proh ib ition as long as the no-contact period does not 

exceed the statutory maximum sentence. State v. Armendariz, 1 60 Wn.2d 1 06, 

1 08 ,  1 20 ,  1 56 P .3d 201 (2007). RCW 9 .94A.030(50) defines "statutory maximum 

sentence" as "the maximum length of time for wh ich an offender may be confined 

as pun ishment for a crime . "  Witness tampering is a class C felony. RCW 

9A. 72. 1 20(2) . The statutory maximum sentence for a class C felony is five 

years . RCW 9A.20.02 1 ( 1  ) (c) . 

Here ,  the no-contact order prohib its Reed from contact with Winters for 

"20 years/life" and from coming with in  500 feet of Winter's home, work, or  school 

"unt i l  October 4, 2037." As both exceed the statutory maximum sentence for 

witness tampering ,  the no-contact order is un lawfu l .  We remand for the trial 

court to l imit the no-contact order to the statutory maximum sentence of five 

years .  

2 .  Fundamenta l  Right to Parent 

Reed also argues that, as he and Winters share a son ,  this court must 

mod ify the no-contact order to a l low for contact as part of a court process .  The 
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State first asserts that Reed waived this issue by fa i l ing to ra ise it below. The 

State then notes that Reed is precluded from contact with h is son at th is t ime and 

therefore any need for contact with Winters wou ld be un l ikely. We conclude that 

Reed does establ ish man ifest constitutiona l  e rror and may ra ise the issue for the 

fi rst time on appeal and that the no-contact order  does vio late Reed's 

fundamental right to parent .  

General ly, we do not consider issues ra ised for the fi rst time on appeal .  

RAP 2 .5(a) .  But a party may ra ise an issue for the first time on appeal  i f  it 

addresses a lack of j u risd iction ,  fa i lu re to establ ish facts upon wh ich re l ief can be 

g ranted , or  a man ifest constitutional error. RAP 2 .5(a)(1 )-(3) .  A party 

demonstrates man ifest constitutional error by showing that the issue affects thei r 

constitutional rights and that they suffered actual prejud ice as a resu lt. State v. 

Anderson,  31  Wn . App. 2d 668, 675 , 552 P .3d 803 , review denied, 3 Wn.3d 1 034 

(2024) . To establ ish actual prejud ice ,  the party must make a "  'p lausible showing 

. . .  that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences i n  the tria l 

of the case . ' " Anderson, 3 1  Wn . App . 2d at 675 (a lterations in the orig inal)  

( internal  quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Guevara Diaz, 1 1  Wn.  App.  

2d 843 ,  851 , 456 P .3d 869 (2020) ) .  

Again , parents have a fu ndamental l iberty interest i n  the custody and care 

of thei r  ch i ldre n .  K. N. J. ,  1 71 Wn .2d at 574. "Parentage d isputes impl icate the 

fu ndamental right a parent has to autonomy in  chi ld -rearing u nder the Fou rteenth 

Amendment." In re Parentage of A. H. ,  28 Wn. App. 2d 4 1 2 , 42 1 , 536 P .3d 7 1 9  

(2023) .  So as not to i nfringe o n  that right ,  a no-contact order that proh ibits 
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contact with a parent must sti l l  a l low for contact through the court o r  counsel 

sufficient to a l low the other parent to seek contact with their shared ch ild ren . 

State v. McGuire, 1 2  Wn. App. 2d 88 ,  90 , 456 P .3d 1 1 93 (2020) . 

Reed establ ishes both that the issue affects h is constitutional rights and 

that he suffered actua l prej ud ice . In l imiting h is abi l ity to contact Winters 

completely, the no-contact order prevents Reed from pursu ing any parenting plan 

action in family cou rt concern ing their shared ch ild . This clearly interferes with 

h is fundamental right to autonomy in ra ising h is son .  It also displays the no­

contact order's identifiable consequences: restricting Reed's abi l ity to contact h is 

son .  

The State contends that Reed cannot establ ish prejudice because the 

court a l ready proh ibited contact with h is son . But as we remand the commun ity 

custody cond ition l imiting that contact, th is may no longer be true . Nor is the test 

whether " it is un likely that Reed wou ld need to contact Winters . "  

Reed establ ishes man ifest constitutiona l  error. And because the order 

provides no exception for contact through court or  counsel ,  it violates Reed's 

fundamental right to parent. 

Fees and I nterest on Restitution 

Reed lastly contends that the victim penalty assessment (VPA) , DNA 

collection fee ,  cou rt costs, criminal  fi l ing fee ,  jury demand fee ,  and community 

supervision fees should be stricken based on h is ind igency. He also asserts that 

remand is appropriate to strike interest on any restitution ordered . The State 

agrees as to the DNA collection fee ,  supervis ion fee , and jury demand fees but 
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mainta ins that the remain ing fees and interest on restitution are moot because 

the obl igations have been paid . Because the record does not establish that the 

issue is moot, we remand for the court to strike the chal lenged fees and exercise 

its d iscretion in whether to waive interest on restitution .  

"As a genera l  rule, [courts] w i l l  not  decide moot questions or abstract 

propositions." Haus. Auth. of City of Everett v. Terry, 1 1 4 Wn.2d 558, 570, 789 

P .2d 745 ( 1 990) . An issue is considered moot on appeal if the appellate court 

cannot provide effective re l ief. In re Dependency of L. C. S. , 200 Wn.2d 9 1 , 98-

99, 5 1 4  P .3d 644 (2022) .  

As of June 201 8 ,  a court " 'sha l l  not  order a defendant to pay costs i f  the 

defendant at the time of sentencing is ind igent . ' " State v. Ramirez, 1 9 1 Wn.2d 

732, 748, 426 P .3d 7 1 4  (20 1 8) (quoting LAWS OF 20 1 8 , ch . 269, § 6(3)) . This 

"conclusively estab l ishes that courts do not have discretion to impose such [legal  

financial obl igations (LFOs)]" and appl ies prospectively to cases not yet fi na l .  

Ramirez, 1 9 1 Wn .2d at 749. 

I n  2022 , the legis latu re amended RCW 9 .94A.703 to remove the 

req u irement that a court order an offender to " ' [p]ay supervision fees as 

determined by the [DOC] . ' " State v. Wemhoff, 24 Wn. App .  2d 1 98 ,  201 , 5 1 9 

P .3d 297 (2022) (first a lteration in orig inal) (quoting former RCW 9.4A.703(2)(d) 

(20 1 8)) .  I t  also added a subsection to RCW 1 0 .82 .090, provid ing that a court 

"may elect not to impose interest on any restitution the court orders , "  d irecting the 

court to inqu ire into and consider a variety of factors in making that 

determination , i nclud ing i nd igency .  RCW 1 0 .82 .090(2) .  
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And in J u ly 2023, the leg is latu re amended RCW 7.68 .035 to proh ibit the 

imposition of a VPA if the cou rt finds a defendant ind igent at the time of 

sentencing .  The legislature a lso el iminated DNA col lection fees. Recently 

amended RCW 43.43.7541 provides that the cou rt shal l  waive any DNA 

col lection fee previous ly imposed upon a motion by the defendant. These 

amendments apply retroactively to appeals that were pending when the 

amendments took effect. State v. Ellis, 27 Wn . App. 2d 1 ,  1 7 , 530 P .3d 1 048 

(2023) ,  review granted, 4 Wn.3d 1 009 (2025) . 

Here ,  the State agrees to the removal of the DNA col lection fee and 

commun ity supervision fee. The State further agrees that imposition of a ju ry 

demand fee is not appropriate where the defendant had a bench tria l .  We 

remand for the tria l  court to strike those fees. 

The State maintains, however, that the rest of the fees have been paid , 

rendering remand unnecessary concerning the VPA and restitution interest 

issues. The State asks th is court to take jud icial notice of the Whatcom County 

Superior Court docket in Odyssey as evidence of that payment, stating that the 

issues appear to be moot. 

But g iven that the provided document does not make clear that Reed has 

in fact paid off the chal lenged LFOs or restitution ,  we can not take jud icial notice. 

Although the docket does i nclude a l ist of payments and a total amount, none of 

the transactions provide any accounting of what fees the payments are cred ited 

toward . Because the record does not demonstrate that the chal lenged LFOs and 

interest have been paid i n  fu l l ,  or that Reed wou ld not be entitled to 
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reimbursement if the court were to waive interest he had a l ready paid , the issue 

is not moot. And the State acknowledges that remand is an appropriate remedy 

for a non-moot issue.  We remand for the tria l cou rt to strike the identified LFOs 

and exercise its d iscretion as to waiving interest. 

We affi rm the conviction for ch i ld molestation in the fi rst degree but 

remand for the court to mod ify the commun ity custody cond itions ,  no-contact 

order ,  and fees. 

WE CONCUR:  
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